THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jul 31 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy
Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2016-CP-10-03783

Court of Appeals Case No. 2021-001050
Opinion No. 6099 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 21, 2025)

Appellate Case No. 2025-001224

The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Home Owners Association, Inc., and The
Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Horizontal Property Regime,Plaintiffs,

v.

Winston Carlyle Charleston National, LLC; Colin R. Campbell Construction, Inc.; Colin

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case where a large material supplier and contractor, Petitioner Builders FirstSource – Southeast Group, LLC (“BFS”), asks our courts to enforce contractual provisions in its master subcontractor agreement requiring its subcontractors, including this Respondent, WS Contractors, LLC (“WSC”), to indemnify BFS against liability resulting from its sole negligence. BFS pled for this relief, but, more importantly, is seeking such relief as a matter of fact.

As the record reflects, almost 6 years ago, Respondent WSC and its subcontractors settled with the Plaintiffs. **(R. pp. 812-813)**. Together, WSC and its subcontractors paid Plaintiffs \$1,000,000.00 in exchange for not only a release of Plaintiffs’ direct claims against them, but releases of BFS, the general contractor, and developer from claims arising from or relating to WSC and its subcontractor’s errors, omissions, and scope of work (referred to as the “issue release”). **(R. pp. 811-825)**. The issue release specifically provides:

In consideration of the receipt of the Settlement Amount, Releasors hereby release, acquit, and forever discharge Builders FirstSource, Inc., Builders FirstSource Southeast Group, Winston Carlyle Charleston National, LLC, Colin R. Campbell Construction, Inc., C.R. Campbell Construction Co., Inc., Colin Campbell Construction, LLC, and their respective owners, parents, subsidiaries, directors, officers, shareholders, members, managers, principals, employees, agents, heirs, assigns, and Colin Campbell, individually (hereinafter collectively “Issue Releasees”) relating to or arising from (a) the scope of work for the Project identified in Exhibit A attached hereto involving Building Numbers 22 through 31, inclusive, and made a part hereof, including, without limitation, the acts, omissions, labor, materials, work, and involvement of Issue Releasees with respect to the scope of work for the Project identified in Exhibit A, and (b) the acts, omissions, labor, materials, work, or involvement of the Settling Defendants and Releasee(s) identified in Paragraph 2 at the Project known as The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club.

(R. p. 813).¹ It is settled as a matter of fact in this case that BFS will not bear any liability to Plaintiffs on account of WSC or its subcontractors alleged negligence.

WSC and its subcontractor's bearing of complete responsibility for their scope of work was not enough for BFS. BFS maintained its claims against WSC after this settlement (and throughout the last six years), resulting in the order that is on appeal that BFS requests this Court review. As these facts clearly show, BFS wants its subcontractors to cover BFS's own liability. Numerous circuit court judges have said no go and the Court of Appeals affirmed these decisions.

WSC filed a motion for summary judgment as to BFS's crossclaims against it² about a month after settling with Plaintiffs and procuring the issue release in BFS's favor. **(R. p. 708)**. The Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy heard WSC and the other subcontractor-Respondents' motions for summary judgment as to BFS's crossclaims on November 6, 2020. **(R. p. 1386)**. BFS admitted its causes of action for breach of express and implied warranties, breach of contract, and negligence failed as a matter of law and were subject to dismissal. **(R. p. 1393, lines 4-21; R. pp. 1083-1084; R. pp. 1182-1183)**. BFS has not appealed the dismissal of those claims. BFS's remaining claim, the claim at issue before the Court of Appeals, is for indemnity. BFS's indemnity claim relies upon certain provisions of "Version – 5/17/06" of BFS's form master subcontractor agreement; i.e., the "Later Contracts" as labeled by the Court of Appeals. **(R. pp. 785-798)**.

¹ WSC was one of several subcontractors providing labor-only installation services for BFS. **(R. pp. 822-825, 864)**. WSC's work was limited to Buildings 22 through 31. **(R. pp. 822-825)**.

² BFS's operative claims against WSC are set out in BFS's Amended Answer, Cross-Claims, and Third-Party Complaint that was filed in response to Plaintiffs' Fourth Amended Complaint on November 13, 2019. **(R. pp. 414-454)**. The general contractor and developer never asserted claims against WSC.

Judge McCoy granted summary judgment to WSC.³ On August 9, 2021, BFS filed a motion for reconsideration of Judge McCoy’s Order. **(R. pp. 1373-1385)**. Judge McCoy denied BFS’s motion for reconsideration on August 23, 2021. **(R. pp. 137-138)**. On September 22, 2021, BFS filed its Notice of Appeal of Judge McCoy’s Orders. **(Notice of Appeal to Court of Appeals)**.

On February 12, 2025, the Court of Appeals affirmed all eight of the Circuit Court’s Orders. BFS’s Petition for Rehearing was denied on May 21, 2025, and the Court issued a substituted opinion, still affirming all eight Orders. Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Home Owners Association, Inc., v. Winston Carlyle Charleston National, LLC, et al., 445 S.C. 566, 915 S.E.2d 736 (Ct. App. 2025). BFS filed its Petition for Writ of Certiorari on June 20, 2025.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court only reviews final decisions of the Court of Appeals “where there are special and important reasons” to do so. Rule 242(b), SCACR. Factors bearing on this Court’s consideration of whether it should exercise its discretionary authority to issue a writ of certiorari are: (1) whether there are novel questions of law; (2) whether there is a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) where the Court of Appeals’ decision is in conflict with a prior decision of the Supreme Court; (4) where substantial constitutional issues are directly involved; or (5) where a federal question is included and the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court. Rule 242(b), SCACR.

³ Judge McCoy initially entered a Form 4 Order granting summary judgment to WSC on all causes of action but for BFS’s equitable indemnity crossclaim. **(R. p. 16-17)**. However, on July 29, 2021, Judge McCoy entered an 18-page formal order granting summary judgment to WSC on all claims asserted by BFS. **(R. pp. 84-101)**.

ARGUMENT

There are no considerations warranting certiorari in this case. The Court of Appeals properly applied existing statutory and case law to the facts of this case. Those facts show that BFS is seeking to enforce contractual provisions that require WSC and its other subcontractors to indemnify it for its own negligence. The Legislature has said such contracts are illegal. S.C. Code § 32-2-10. Our courts have followed suit by mandating in the situation where a contract calls for a party to indemnify the indemnitee for the indemnitee's concurrent negligence, this intent must be set out in "clear and unequivocal" terms. Concord & Cumberland Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC, 424 S.C. 639, 649, 819 S.E.2d 166, 172 (Ct. App. 2018), reh'g denied (Oct. 18, 2018); Laurens Emerg. Med. Specialists, PA v. M.S. Bailey & Sons Bankers, 355 S.C. 104, 111, 584 S.E.2d 375, 378-79 (2003). BFS's master subcontractor agreement fails to meet this strict standard and contains provisions that run afoul of the Anti-Indemnity Statute, S.C. Code § 32-2-10. The circuit court and Court of Appeals were within their right to reject BFS's request for judicial rewriting of their illegal and unconscionable contract. There is no reason for this Court to review the Court of Appeals decision. This Court should deny BFS's Petition.

I. Certiorari is not appropriate under Rule 242, SCACR. The Court of Appeals correctly applied S.C. Code § 32-2-10 and the "clear and unequivocal standard" because as the circumstances particular to WSC show, BFS is seeking to be indemnified for its sole negligence as a matter of fact.

BFS attempts to create conflict between the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case and its prior opinion in Concord & Cumberland by suggesting that the claims, contracts, and facts in each case are on par. As simple comparison shows, they are not. The analysis begins by distinguishing the facts of this case.

A. The issue release WSC and its subcontractors procured in favor of BFS for the hefty sum of \$1 million dollars negates any question as to whether BFS is seeking indemnification for BFS's sole or concurrent negligence. WSC has

resolved BFS's liability on account of WSC's work. BFS can only be viewed as seeking indemnification from WSC for Petitioner's sole negligence

BFS's Petition completely ignores that BFS is, as a matter of law and fact, seeking to recover from WSC, under a theory of indemnity, for BFS's sole negligence. Instead, BFS indicates to this Court that it has pled alternative theories of indemnity in its pleading and argues that it should be permitted to cherry-pick some of the non-offending language in its master subcontract agreement and apply them to the one alternate theory BFS claims it can maintain.

This argument is wrought with issues,⁴ but the argument has no legs whatsoever against WSC. We are not at a stage where we are examining in the abstract whether BFS is seeking to be indemnified for WSC's sole negligence, WSC and BFS's concurrent negligence, or BFS's sole negligence. BFS has not, cannot, and will not bear any liability on account of WSC's acts, omissions, or work on the project based upon the issue release. **(R. pp. 811-825)**. This is a matter of undisputed fact.

BFS previously acknowledged in this case that an issue release settles the question of its potential liability to Plaintiffs on account of a subcontractor's scope of work in absolute terms. In BFS's opposition to another subcontractor-Defendant's motion for summary judgment (McDaniel Construction Co. LLC), BFS admitted summary judgment as to its claim for indemnity for liability is proper where a subcontractor obtains an issue release in favor of BFS, thereby eliminating the question of BFS's liability for the subcontractor's negligence. See **(R. p. 1553)**. McDaniel Construction Co. LLC had not procured an issue release in BFS's favor. **(R. pp. 1552-1537)**. BFS

⁴ Among other issues, BFS's argument regarding Rule 8, SCRCF, is not properly included in its Petitioner for a Writ of Certiorari. "Only those questions raised in the Court of Appeals and in the petition for rehearing shall be include in the petition for writ of certiorari as a question presented to the Supreme Court." Rule 242(d)(1), SCACR. BFS did not raise its Rule 8, SCRCF, argument in its briefs filed in the Court of Appeals. See **(BFS Final Brief and Reply filed Nov. 14, 2022 in the Court of Appeals)**.

was arguing that its liability on McDaniel's account remained uncertain because the issue release was not in place. **(R. p. 1553)** ("Because Plaintiffs had not released their claims relating to alleged improper framing installation implemented by McDaniel, summary judgment is not proper at this time."). The issue release here resolves any question of fault. If BFS is held liable to the Plaintiffs, it will not be on WSC's account, but on account of its own negligence or that of unrelated subcontractors.

WSC has pointed to the issue release in its briefing and argument before the Court of Appeals. See (WSC Final Brief). BFS does not dispute the fact that it is now in a position of seeking indemnity from WSC for BFS's own negligence.

These facts totally undercut BFS's argument that it is not seeking to recover in indemnity solely for its subcontractor's negligence. The circumstances between BFS and WSC clearly reveal that BFS is, in fact, seeking to recover from its subcontractors in indemnity for BFS's sole and concurrent negligence.

B. The Court of Appeals properly determined S.C. Code § 32-2-10 and public policy considerations prevent BFS from recovering damages, including attorney's fees and costs, from WSC occasioned by BFS's own negligence.

The issue release is also dispositive of BFS's contractual indemnity claim against WSC because the Anti-Indemnity Statute, S.C. Code § 32-2-10, renders a promise or agreement in connection with the construction of a building purporting to indemnify the promise against liability for damages arising out of property damages proximately caused by or resulting from the sole negligence of the promisee, its independent contractors, agents, employees, or indemnitees is against public policy and enforceable. That's exactly what the BFS's master subcontractor agreement purports to do and precisely the relief BFS is seeking from WSC. It also should be

dispositive of BFS's claims against all of its other subcontractors from whom it is seeking indemnity from because the illegality renders the contract unenforceable. See Section II. A infra.

This Court does not need to take review of a case where the underlying contract indisputably violates the Anti-Indemnity Statute.

C. The Court of Appeals properly considered Petitioner's pared-down request for attorney's fees and costs from Respondent as elements of damages attendant to Petitioner's only remaining claim, its contractual indemnity claim, and appropriately rejected Petitioner's strained interpretation of S.C. Code § 32-2-10 and its own pleadings.

The Anti-Indemnity Statute, S.C. Code § 32-2-10, applies to BFS's claims for attorney's fees and costs as elements of damages of its contractual indemnity claim. As noted above, BFS does not challenge that it cannot use its master subcontractor agreement to require its subcontractors to indemnify it from its own negligence due to the Anti-Indemnity Statute. See generally (**BFS Pet. for Writ of Certiorari**). However, BFS argues that the same law does not restrict its right to recover, under a theory of indemnity, its attorney's fees and costs. This argument is illogical and a misreading of the statute and precedent.

BFS's claim that attorney's fees and costs are damages that fall outside the scope of the Anti-Indemnity Statute is without merit. As established by this Court, in McCoy v. Greenwave Enterprises, Inc., "reasonable attorney's fees incurred in resisting the claim indemnified against may be recovered as part of the damages and expenses." 408 S.C. 355, 360, 759 S.E.2d 136, 156 (2014) (internal citations omitted). However, while South Carolina law permits recovery of attorney's fees by contract or statute, the contractual terms providing for such indemnification must still comply with all applicable South Carolina law, including the Anti-Indemnity Statute codified at S.C. Code § 32-2-10. Rimer v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 248 S.C. 18, 27, 148 S.E.2d 742, 746 (1966).

BFS bases its right to recover attorney's fees and costs on the following language contained within the Section 5 "Indemnity" section of its master subcontractor agreement:

THE DUTY TO DEFEND EXISTS REGARDLESS OF ANY ULTIMATE LIABILITY OR NEGLIGENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR, THE OWNER, OR ANY OF THEIR OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, AGENTS, AND EMPLOYEES.

(R. p. 791) (all caps emphasis in original, bold and underline emphasis added). Section 5 of the master subcontractor agreement explicitly calls for BFS's subcontractors to pay BFS's attorney fees "regardless of any ultimate liability or negligence of the contract." **(R. pp. 790-791)**. This is an explicit violation of the Anti-Indemnity Statute, and BFS's master subcontractor agreement is illegal and, therefore, unenforceable. The fact that these claimed damages are limited to attorney's fees, as opposed to a judgment cost, is immaterial.

BFS itself acknowledged this legal reality not only when BFS elected to include an indemnity provision for attorney's fees and costs in its master subcontractor agreement, but also, in its pleadings, through which BFS seeks attorney's fees and costs as damages *under its contractual indemnity cause of action*.⁵

BFS's primary argument is that: "Attorneys' fees do not fall within the scope of indemnity because they are not paid by a first party to 'a second party for loss or damage the second party incurs to a third party.'" **(BFS Pet. for a Writ of Certiorari at p. 23)**. BFS latches onto the Court of Appeals' definition of the noun "indemnity" in its Concord & Cumerland opinion and omits from its discussion that the Anti-Indemnity Statute does not use the word "indemnity." **(Id.)**. The verb "indemnify" and phrase "hold harmless" are contained within the Anti-Indemnity Statute.

⁵ BFS has abandoned all of its causes of action against WSC but for its contractual indemnity cause of action. Accordingly, BFS is maintaining that its sole cause of action, contractual indemnity, is not subject to laws governing contractual indemnity. The argument is illogical and far from presenting a novel issue of law.

S.C. Code § 32-2-10. To “indemnify” and “hold harmless” are synonymous with each other and the well-understood meaning of each verb is to make immune from liability.⁶ The statute does not limit or qualify its application to compensation paid by a first party to a second party for loss or damage that the second party incurs to a third party as BFS would have it, nor does the ordinary meaning of the language contained therein.

The lower court was correct in giving the words “indemnify” and “hold harmless” their “plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation,” and there is no error in the Court of Appeals affirming these rulings. CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnt’y Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011) (quoting Sloan v. Hardee, 371 S.C. 495, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007)).

It is also proper to consider BFS’s efforts to construe the language in the Anti-Indemnity Statute in conjunction with the purpose of the whole statute and the policy of the law, which disfavors indemnity provisions that are “overly broad.” See Keith v. River Consulting, Inc., 365 S.C. 500, 600 S.E.2d 302 (Ct. App. 2005); see also Rorrer v. P.J. Club, Inc., 347 S.C. 560, 569, 556 S.E.2d 726 (Ct. App. 2001), citing S.C. Coastal Council v. S.C. State Ethics Comm’n, 306 S.C. 41, 44, 410 S.E.2d 245, 247 (1991). The object of the Anti-Indemnity Statute is to prevent the enforcement of agreements that require a subcontractor to indemnify a general contractor for damages caused by the general contractor’s negligence or the negligence of its subcontractors.

⁶ Black’s Law Dictionary defines “indemnify” as: “**1.** To reimburse (another) for a loss suffered because of a third party’s or one’s own act or default; **HOLD HARMLESS.** **2.** To promise to reimburse (another) for such a loss. **3.** To give (another) security against such a loss” and “hold harmless” to mean “[t]o absolve (another party) from any responsibility for damage or other liability arising from the transaction; **INDEMNIFY.**” Black’s Law Dictionary 11th Ed. (2019); see also New York & Presbyterian Hosp. v. United States, 881 F.3d 877, 883-87 (Fed. Cir. 2018) (holding “indemnify” was commonly understood to mean “to compensate” and “to reimburse” after examining various definitions of the word).

D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Builders First-Source-Southeast Group, LLC, 422 S.C. 144, 152, 810 S.E.2d 41, 45 (Ct. App. 2018).

BFS seeks an interpretation of the statutory language that is not consistent with the plain language of the statute, its ordinary meaning, and the overall purpose of the statute and South Carolina law. Its argument should be rejected for these additional reasons.

BFS also attempts to distinguish agreements imposing a duty to defend from indemnity agreements. BFS cites to two cases, City of Hartsville v. S.C. Mun. Ins. & Risk Fin. Fund, 382 S.C. 535, 544, 677 S.E.2d 574, 578 (2009) and Sloan Constr. v. Centr. Nat. Ins. Co. of Omaha, 269 S.C. 183, 186, 236 S.E.2d 818, 820 (1977), for the proposition that the duty to defend and the duty to indemnify are two separate and distinct contractual obligations. **(BFS Petition for Writ of Certiorari at pp. 23-24)**. These cases involve an insurer's duty to defend and/or indemnify its insured against third-party liability claims. City of Hartsville, 382 S.C. at 544; Sloan Constr., 269 at 186. The juxtaposition of the parties and the contract at issue is completely different here, but, moreover, what we are dealing with is not a breach of contract claim by BFS for an alleged failure to defend them against Plaintiffs' claims. BFS's claim against WSC is confined to the following:

133. That the Plaintiff, The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club HOA, Inc., and The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Horizontal Property Regime, have sued Builders FirstSourceSoutheast Group, LLC (hereinafter sometimes "BFS"), asserting damages allegedly caused, inter alia, by deficiencies in framing, including but not limited to deficiencies in the installation of windows, doors, and related components, during original construction of the subject structures.

134. That BFS has denied the material allegations asserted against BFS in the Plaintiffs' Fourth Amended Complaint.

135. That the respective subcontracts between this Defendant and the Cross Claim Defendants, provide for contractual indemnification in favor of BFS.

136. That the Cross Claim Defendants served as subcontractors to BFS in connection with their services at the subject structures. Regardless, therefore, of any specific contractual obligation to indemnify, there exists a special relationship

between this Defendant, and the Cross Claim Defendants, sufficient to impose obligations of indemnity against the aforesaid Cross Claim Defendants, in favor of BFS.

137. That to the extent, if any, that BFS may be held liable to the Plaintiffs, or to others in this action, such liability would be a direct and proximate result of the wrongful acts, omissions, negligence, gross negligence, and/or representations of the Cross Claim Defendants, which have damaged BFS, as BFS has been subjected to liability and has incurred consequential damages in having to expend attorneys' fees and costs in defending against the Plaintiffs' claims.

138. That BFS is entitled to full contractual and common law indemnification from the Cross Claim Defendants, for any liability BFS is found to have to the Plaintiffs or to others in this action, and BFS is also entitled to damages for any negligence, as aforesaid, on the part of the Cross Claim Defendants, entitling BFS to recover from the Cross Claim Defendants, its attorneys' fees, costs, and other expenses incurred in defending this action, and further entitling BFS to recover from the Cross Claim Defendants any sums for which BFS may be held liable to the Plaintiffs or to others, or which Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC may pay in satisfaction of such claims.

(R. pp. 440-441).

The Court of Appeals' application of the Anti-Indemnity Statute to BFS's contractual indemnity claim, which includes BFS's requests for attorney's fees, costs, and other expenses incurred in defending this action, was correct, entirely consistent with the Anti-Indemnity Statute, and presents no novel issue of law.

BFS should not be entitled to recover sums from WSC or its other subcontractors on account of its own negligence and the attorney's fees and expenses it incurs defending against its own liability. The circuit court and Court of Appeals were proper in rejecting its claims seeking to do just that. There is no basis in law or fact to review these sound decisions. BFS's Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied.

II. The Court of Appeals did not deviate from its own precedent in Concord & Cumberland or create conflicting law. The facts of the cases are different and the Court of Appeals' conclusion here that the BFS master subcontractor agreement is replete with terms that violate South Carolina law and public policy and therefore cannot be severed out or rewritten is well supported.

For the reasons analyzed above, which BFS has fairly well admitted,⁷ BFS's master subcontractor agreement violates the Anti-Indemnity Statute. In addition to including provisions that require its subcontractors to indemnify it against its own negligence, BFS included language purporting to have its subcontractors indemnify BFS for its concurrent negligence that were not stated in "clear and unequivocal" terms. Each of these issues alone warrants the dismissal of BFS's contractual indemnity claims against its subcontractors, including the subcontractors who have not settled and obtained an issue release in BFS's favor.⁸

A. BFS's master subcontractor agreement is illegal and unenforceable under S.C. Code § 32-2-10 because it requires BFS's subcontractors to indemnify BFS for BFS's sole negligence. This issue was not present in Concord & Cumberland.

BFS asked the circuit court and then, the Court of Appeals, to do two things with respect to its master subcontractor agreement. First, it asked the Courts to sever out those provisions throughout the agreement that required BFS's subcontractors to indemnify BFS against its own

⁷ BFS represented to the lower court, in a writing signed by its counsel, that it was only seeking to recover the portion of its attorney's fees and costs incurred in defending the claims that arose out of WSC's work. BFS scaled-back its claim against WSC after WSC procured the issue release in BFS's favor.

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