THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jul 31 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001050

Opinion No. 2025-6099

The Retreat at Charleston National County Club Home Owners Association, Inc., and The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Horizontal Property Regime..... Plaintiffs,

v.

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

### ARGUMENT

Pohlman initially notes that certain Questions presented by Petitioner were not issues raised, discussed, or briefed by Pohlman in the lower courts. Therefore, Pohlman's Return does not provide substantive discussion in response to Petitioner's Question Six (6) regarding collateral estoppel.

- I. **The Court of Appeals affirmation that the "clear and unequivocal" standard applies is proper and BFS has only itself to blame.**

Despite BFS's attempt to break down their argument against the trial's court's application of Concord v. Cumberland's "clear and unequivocal" standard into three separate "questions," (BFS Petition, Questions 1, 2, and 3), and the Court of Appeals subsequent affirmation of the application, the wording of the Later Contract and the provisions to be reviewed remain a single inquiry: "Does the indemnification provision of the Later Contract seek to require the subcontractor (Pohlman) to indemnify BFS for its sole or concurrent negligence." If so, the "clear and unequivocal" standard applies.

As is noted by virtually every party to this case, the Court of Appeals correctly stated the applicable precedent when it held that the “clear and unequivocal” standard must be applied when interpreting a contractor’s claim against a subcontractor seeking indemnification for alleged negligent construction of a condominium project, and that the “clear and unequivocal” standard must be applied any time an indemnitee seeks indemnification for its negligence, whether sole or concurrent. Concord v. Cumberland Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC, 424 S.C. 639, 649, 819 S.E.2d 166, 172 (Ct. App. 2018).

Turning to the BFS form subcontract which BFS forced its subcontractors to sign without negotiation, BFS drafted an ambiguous indemnity provision that identifies two separate and distinct standards for the subcontractor’s (Pohlman) indemnification exposure. The first paragraph of the indemnity provision purports to limit Pohlman’s indemnification responsibility to BFS to damages to the extent caused by Pohlman, but the second paragraph requires Pohlman to indemnify BFS for damages even if those damages are the result of the sole negligence of BFS. These are directly conflicting and cannot be reconciled, as noted by both reviewing Courts. By definition, the indemnity provision cannot be said to “clearly and unequivocally” state the intention of the parties that Pohlman agreed to indemnify BFS for its own negligence.

BFS blames the Court of Appeals for not parsing out each particular paragraph or phrase and applying a separate standard to each which, in their mind, would have permitted their claims for indemnity against the subcontractors for their sole or concurrent negligence to continue forward. The blame is sorely misplaced. BFS was the author of the indemnity provision, not the Court.

In an effort to dodge the Concord v Cumberland analysis altogether, BFS continues to assert, with yet another imaginative argument, that it only seeks recovery for the alleged negligence

of subcontractors. As Pohlman identified in its brief, and as echoed by the Court of Appeals in their Opinion, this position is clearly inconsistent with the claims BFS has asserted against Pohlman in its pleadings. Paragraph 167 of BFS's Third-Party Complaint<sup>1</sup> alleges that, in essence, if BFS is held liable to Plaintiffs, then that liability can only be the result of negligence of Pohlman or others. This stands in stark contrast to the claims alleged by Plaintiff in their Fourth Amended Complaint which speak clearly to duties owed by BFS in its roles as a supplier of materials for the project and as a subcontractor responsible for supervising, inspecting, and approving the work of its sub-subcontractors. These are all duties owed to the Plaintiff which a jury can find BFS breached on its own, without subcontractor involvement. Yet, contrary to the arguments BFS presents now, a plain reading of its Third-Party Complaint shows that BFS seeks indemnification from Pohlman for those negligent acts.<sup>2</sup>

BFS appears to state directly that the Court of Appeals misapplied the holding of Concord and Cumberland, where instead they should have only applied the standard to one portion of the indemnity provision. *See* BFS Petition, pgs. 12-15. The problem with that logic is that the trial court found that the indemnity provision, as a whole, could not remain because the paragraphs therein were so conflicting and ambiguous as to render the provision void. Because BFS did not

---

<sup>1</sup> Paragraph 167 of the BFS Third-Party Complaint reads as follows:

167. That to the extent, if any, that BFS may be held liable to the Plaintiffs, or to others in this action, such liability would be a direct and proximate result of the wrongful acts, omissions, negligence, and/or representations of the Third-party Defendants, which have damaged BFS, as BFS has been subjected to liability and has incurred consequential damages in having to expend attorneys' fees and costs in defending against the Plaintiffs' claims. (R. p. 449)

<sup>2</sup> Paragraph 168 of the BFS Third-Party Complaint reads as follows:

168. **That BFS is entitled to full contractual and common law indemnification from the Third-Party Defendants, for any liability BFS is found to have to the Plaintiffs or to others in this action**, and BFS is also entitled to damages for any negligence, as aforesaid, on the part of the Third-Party Defendants, entitled BFS to recover from the Third-Party Defendants, its attorneys' fees, costs, and other expenses incurred in defending this action, and further **entitling BFS to recover from the Third-Party Defendants any sums for which BFS may be held liable to the Plaintiffs or to others**, or which Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC may pay in satisfaction of such claims. **[emphasis added]** (R. p. 449)

adequately draft the indemnity provision in a way that could provide for the Court to analyze single portions of the provision (not to mention the segments that violated public policy), the Court had no choice but to apply the heightened standard to the entire provision. Again, this is the fault of BFS, and not the Court's interpretation of its prior ruling. Thus, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's application of the "clear and unequivocal" standard to the indemnification provision at issue.

**II. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed that the trial court is not tasked with "blue-penciling" the contract between the parties and could not utilize the severability clause as demanded by BFS.**

Judge McCoy found that the language of the two paragraphs in the indemnity provision are in conflict and cannot be reconciled. (R. p. 119) The Court of Appeals agreed, and declined to "re-write" the Later Contract to BFS's benefit. This course of action was proper, and consistent with established, well-settled law to be applied when construing contracts.

Basic contract law provides that when a contract is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines the contract's force and effect. C.A.N. Enterprises, Inc. v. South Carolina Health and Human Servs. Fin. Comm'n, 296 S.C. 373, 377, 373 S.E.2d 584, 586 (1998). It is not the function of the Court to rewrite contracts for parties. *See* York v. Dodgeland of Columbia, Inc., 406 S.C. 67, 90, 749 S.E.2d 139, 150 (Ct. App. 2013). The court is without authority to alter a contract by construction or to make a new contract for the parties. C.A.N Enterprises, 296 S.C. at 378, 373 S.E.2d at 587 (1988).

BFS wrote the Later Contract; the subcontractor did not. BFS chose to label the "Indemnity" provision as just that; one conglomerate provision made up of four paragraphs with differing indemnification language throughout. The provision does not include subtitles, instructions, or any other guide to which Pohlman, or the Court, could conclude which paragraph applies to which

particular circumstances in which the parties may find themselves. Instead, BFS left the Court with the conclusion that the provision is to be read and interpreted as a whole when faced with a claim of indemnification. The result of BFS's drafting is an overarching provision with different standards for indemnification which cannot be reconciled together.

Ambiguous language in a contract should be construed liberally and most strongly in favor of the party who did not write or prepare the contract and is not responsible for the ambiguity; and any ambiguity in a contract, doubt, or uncertainty as to its meaning should be resolved against the party who prepared the contract or is responsible for the verbiage. Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Assocs., LLC, 374 S.C. 483, 499-500, 649 S.E.2d 494, 502 (Ct. App. 2007).

Both Judge McCoy and the Court of Appeals were clear that the indemnity provision, among other provisions in the Later Contract, was (1) not "clear and unequivocal" and (2) contained language violative of public policy. Severance in the manner BFS begs of the Court would require the Court to take out individual words, lines, and/or paragraphs, creating a mash-up of sentences and paragraphs containing no meaning. Not only would that be ineffective, it would stand in contrast to the duties and functions of the Court. York, 406 S.C. at 90, 749 S.E.2d at 150 (Ct. App. 2013). The only proper use of the severability clause, were it to be invoked, would be to remove both the first and second paragraphs of the indemnity provision which are "inextricably linked." This would leave BFS with its cause of action for Common Law Indemnification.

Instead, the Court of Appeals agreed that individual portions of indemnity provision could not be effectively severed due to the provision being "replete with terms that violate South Carolina law and public policy." It is within the court's discretion on how to sever certain provisions or to scrap the provision entirely. *See* Doe v. TCSC, LLC, 430 S.C. 602, 615, 846 S.E.2d 874, 880 (Ct.

App. 2020). The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court’s decision to refrain from re-writing the indemnity provision.

**III. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the ruling that attorneys’ fees are among the damages included in the prohibition of certain indemnification claims imposed by Section 32-2-10.**

BFS presses the Supreme Court in their Petition to review Section 32-2-10 and determine whether attorney’s fees are within the scope of “indemnity damages” considered by Section 32-2-10. This is the first time that BFS has raised this issue, and Pohlman submits that the Petition for Writ of Certiorari is not the appropriate time to present new arguments.

BFS attempts to make sense of this issue by misapplying language from an appellate decision that was focused on insurance coverage issues. BFS urges the Court use a definition of the word “indemnification” sometimes used in the insurance industry, and to ignore the common, well-recognized meaning used every day by parties, lawyers, and courts. Moreover, BFS presses the Court to “read into” Section 32-2-10 a distinction between the duty to indemnify and the duty to defend. Again, this distinction only applies when discussing certain insurance policy issues (e.g., interpretation or potential bad faith). If you take BFS’s argument to its logical conclusion, Section 32-2-10 does not prohibit claims to recover any dollars paid for anything except what is paid for “damages.” That means claims can be made to recover attorney’s fees, expert expenses, filing and service fees, travel expenses... and the list goes on. Not only does such an interpretation fly in the face of common sense, but it would also be ridiculous to suggest that interpretation was intended by the legislature.

**CONCLUSION**

BFS seeks now a third review of the language of the Later Contract and its enforceability, or lack thereof, as to the claims against Pohlman. However, BFS’s goal remains the same: BFS seeks

indemnification from Pohlman for BFS's own negligence and to walk away from this case without potentially suffering the consequences of its own actions. Due to the foregoing analysis above, Pohlman hereby requests that BFS's Petition for Writ of Certiorari be denied.